1967

The Oil Shale Corporation, A Nevada Corporation
v. Fred v. Larson, Also Known As Frederick v.
Larson, Ethel B. Larson, Husband And Wife;
Frederick H. Larson And Dorothy H. Larson,
Husband And Wife : Appellant's Brief

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff seeks, in effect, specific performance of a written agreement to grant to plaintiff a six-month option for the lease and purchase of mining claims.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Plaintiff initiated this action on October 14, 1964, by filing the complaint herein pursuant to the Utah Declaratory Judgment Statute (Section 78-31-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended). Defendants were personally served and answered.

The matter came on for trial on June 22 and 23, 1966, before the Honorable Joseph E. Nelson, District Judge, sitting without jury, at Provo, Utah. At the conclusion of plaintiff's case, defendants moved to dismiss, and the court reserved judgment on said motion. Defendants then presented their case. The court instructed the parties to file briefs supporting their respective positions in lieu of oral closing arguments, and to file proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

The parties complied with said instructions and on November 1, 1966 the court entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment in favor of defendants. The Conclusions of Law signed by the court at that date found that there was no enforceable agreement.

On November 9, 1966 plaintiff moved for a new trial, and on November 18, 1966 that matter came on for hearing before the Honorable Joseph E. Nelson, sitting at Provo, Utah. A transcript of said hearing was made. At the hearing, the court ascertained that the Findings and Conclusions dated November 1, 1966 were contrary to the testimony at trial, and the court directed defendants to submit Revised Findings and Conclusions which reflected that position. The hearing was continued to January 6, 1967.

Defendants filed proposed Revised Findings and Conclusions with the court, and on January 6, 1967 the hearing was resumed and a transcript was made of the proceedings. The parties argued the merits of the proposed Revised Findings and Conclusions, and plaintiff again moved for a new trial in the event the Revised Findings and Conclusions were adopted by the court.

On February 21, 1967 the court, after review of the original Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered on November 1, 1966, denied plaintiff's motion for new trial. On March 10, 1967 the court, without notice to plaintiff or hearing, entered an Amended Judgment and Decree, adopting the Revised Findings and Conclusions previously submitted by defendants. The Findings and Conclusions of said Amended Judgment found that there was an enforceable contract which had been fully performed. The trial court also concluded that the request for relief was, in fact, a request for specific performance of said written agreement.

On March 18, 1967 plaintiff received notice from defendants' counsel that the court had entered said Findings, Conclusions and Amended Judgment.

Because plaintiff had filed its first Notice of Appeal before it received notice of the Amended Judgment, it became necessary to file a Notice of Appeal from said Amended Judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The lower court found an enforceable written contract, supplemented by certain oral understandings. Plaintiff seeks reversal of that part of the Amended Judgment finding valid oral agreements contradicting the express terms of the written contract of July 25, 1963 and finding that an option period expired on January 15, 1964.

Plaintiff seeks further declarations that defendants have failed to perform their obligation under said written contract, and that defendants are obligated to perform specifically said written contract and grant plaintiff a six-month option to lease and purchase the Larson lands under the terms thereof.

In the alternative, plaintiff seeks a new trial or an order granting restitution to plaintiff of \$20,000 it paid to defendants on January 31, 1964.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. NEGOTIATIONS LEADING TO THE AGREEMENT OF JULY 25, 1963.

1. *The Meetings of July 10 and 11, 1963.*

In May and early June of 1963, defendant Frederick H. Larson, President of Larson Oil Company, a Nevada corporation, met with Hein I. Koolsbergen and A. F. Lenhart, President and Vice President, respectively, of plaintiff The Oil Shale Corporation, a Nevada corporation, hereinafter referred to as "TOSCO", in Beverly Hills, California, to consider the possibility of TOSCO's purchasing certain oil shale properties in Uintah County, Utah. The property consisted of approximately 30,000 acres of unpatented lands owned by Larson Oil Company and 1,000 acres of patented lands owned by Fred V. Larson and Ethel B. Larson (Tr-1 p. 22-23).^{*} After

^{*}The record contains three separate transcripts. For the Court's convenience, they have been numbered and referred to as Tr-1, Tr-2 and Tr-3.

further preliminary discussions were held on July 9 and 10, 1963 at TOSCO's New York City Offices (Tr-1 p. 15), TOSCO and Larson reached several understandings regarding the terms upon which the lands would be made available to TOSCO. These understandings were recorded in a memorandum dated July 11, 1963 prepared by Lenhart (Tr-1 p. 15; Exhibit 2). At this time Larson and TOSCO orally agreed that the option period referred to in the memorandum of July 11 should begin on July 15, 1963 (Tr-1 p. 186). They also agreed that Larson would be employed as a consultant for a period of one year, commencing July 15, 1963 at a salary of \$1,200.00 per month plus expenses. During the period hereinafter described, Larson was so employed and compensated, and transacted business from TOSCO's Los Angeles office, which he shared with Lenhart.

2. Events Between July 11, 1963 and July 25, 1963.

On his return trip to California from these meetings Larson stopped over in Denver, Colorado, to discuss with John B. Tweedy, an attorney for TOSCO, the understandings that had been reached in New York (Tr-1 pp. 85, 104). During Larson's conversations with Tweedy, it became apparent that the parties had failed to agree on the consideration to be paid at the time of the exercise of the option. Immediately thereafter, Tweedy had several telephone conversations with Koolsbergen in which he reported the discrepancies revealed in his discussions with Larson (Tr-1 p. 85). He then began to draft two formal option and lease agreements, one between Larson Oil Company and TOSCO covering the

unpatented lands, and the other between Fred V. Larson and Ethel B. Larson, Larson's parents, covering the patented lands. Tweedy also telephoned Larson's attorney, D. J. Dufford, in Grand Junction, Colorado, to discuss the drafts with him. They were completed and mailed to Dufford on July 20 (Tr-1 p. 108). The Tweedy drafts recited that TOSCO's option would begin "July 15, 1963" (Exhibits 14, 16).

While Tweedy was preparing the drafts in Denver, Larson had returned to California, where he first received a copy of the Lenhart memorandum of July 11. He was apparently dissatisfied with the delay rental provisions for the unpatented lands. On July 13 or 14 Larson informed Koolsbergen by telephone that the memorandum of July 11 did not correctly state his understanding of the transaction (Tr-1 p. 16). As a result, another meeting was arranged to resolve the differences remaining between the parties (Tr-1 p. 17).

On July 23 and 24, Koolsbergen and Morton M. Winston, counsel for TOSCO, met with Larson in Beverly Hills, California (Tr-1 p. 17). Lenhart was not present during these meetings, and took no further part in negotiations until January 1964. TOSCO and Larson reached agreement for the first time on the matters not covered by the Lenhart memorandum of July 11 — i.e., the question of delay rentals and the amounts to be paid on exercise of the options. They also agreed that the option would not commence until the payment of the \$20,000.00 and the signing of formal documents. Thereupon a new letter agreement dated July 25, 1963, which

the trial court found binding on the parties, was drafted in Larson's presence. It both recited the final understandings of the parties and incorporated the earlier memorandum of July 11 (Exhibit 2). Although the earlier conversations and the memorandum of July 11 contemplated a transaction between Larson Oil Company and TOSCO, by July 25 Larson had determined that the shareholders of Larson Oil Company, who were Larson and his wife, Dorothy H. Larson, and Larson's parents, Fred V. Larson and Ethel B. Larson, could gain certain tax advantages if the transaction were re-cast. Consequently, the parties to the transaction were altered (Tr-3 p. 29), the July 25 agreement was prepared for execution by the four shareholders of Larson Oil Company in their individual capacities (Exhibit 2), and the time of the commencement of the option was deferred until after the dissolution of Larson Oil Company and/or the distribution of its properties to its shareholders (Exhibit 2). The July 25 agreement was signed by Koolsbergen for TOSCO, and then taken by Larson to his and his parents' homes, where it was signed by his wife and his parents on July 26, 1963 (Tr-1 pp. 18, 19).

3. The July 25 Agreement.

The July 25 agreement (Exhibit 2)** provides:

1. It was the intention of the shareholders of Larson Oil Company to dissolve the company, to receive its oil shale claims, to make them available to TOSCO, and to enter into formal lease option contracts with

**This agreement is set forth as Appendix A to this brief for the Court's convenience.

TOSCO. These formal documents would spell out the understandings which had resulted from the meetings of July 9, 10, 23 and 24.

2. At the time of signing the formal documents, TOSCO would pay \$20,000.00 and would, at that time, receive an option to lease and purchase the properties, good for a term of six months, during which it could examine title, reserves and other aspects of the claims.

3. If TOSCO exercised the option, it would transfer 5,000 shares of its common stock to defendants, subject to appropriate investment representations in compliance with Federal Securities laws.

4. If TOSCO exercised the option, it would pay defendants \$10,000 yearly as delay rentals for unpatented lands, subject to TOSCO's right to recover the delay rentals paid out of subsequent production royalties.

5. TOSCO agreed to attempt to carry all of the unpatented placer mining claims to patent at its own expense, and the shareholders agreed to cooperate in such effort.

6. If TOSCO exercised the option, it would pay certain specified amounts as delay rentals for the patented lands.

7. If TOSCO exercised the option, it would pay defendants a royalty of $2\frac{1}{2}\%$ of the sales price of each barrel of crude shale oil produced and sold.

8. The lease would contain a provision granting TOSCO the right to purchase the lands at a formula

price to be computed as the "present worth of the recoverable amount of oil at 5 cents per barrel, discounted over 20 years at a rate of 12%."

TOSCO President Koolsbergen, signing for TOSCO, made the following statement in the July 25 letter: "I have asked our attorneys to commence the drafting of the necessary documents to carry out these understandings and reduce them to formal agreements . . ." By this time, however, Tweedy had not only commenced the drafting but had actually completed the first drafts and had forwarded them to Dufford for his revision. Larson testified that at the meeting at which the July 25 agreement was drafted in his presence, he also made certain oral agreements with TOSCO which, however, were not reflected in the written agreement (Tr-1, p. 181).

B. EVENTS LEADING TO TOSCO'S PAYMENT, AT LARSON'S REQUEST, OF THE \$20,000 OPTION PAYMENT.

Although Tweedy sent drafts to Dufford on July 20, 1963, it took almost five months for Dufford to forward revised drafts to TOSCO (Tr-1 p. 110). Throughout this period Dufford and Larson exchanged ideas on revisions of the Tweedy drafts (Tr-1 p. 33). They made some minor changes to conform the drafts to the July 25 agreement, such as substituting the individual shareholders as parties in place of Larson Oil Company. Not until December 13, 1963, did Dufford finally forward the Dufford-Larson revisions (Exhibits 4 and 5) of the Tweedy drafts. On December 19 Tweedy told Dufford

by telephone that he would not be able to review the drafts until sometime after Christmas (Tr-1 p. 116).

At about the same time he finally forwarded the Dufford-Larson drafts, Larson began making requests for the \$20,000.00 option payment (Tr-1 p. 56; Exhibits, 3, 20, 21), claiming pressing financial need. He asked Lenhart, who worked with him in TOSCO's Los Angeles office, to approach Koolsbergen on the matter (Tr-1 p. 197). At this time Larson was personally committed to buy a tract of oil shale claims called the "Ivers-Larson" tract, which he had in turn optioned to TOSCO at a higher price. He said he needed the money for this purpose (Tr-1 p. 56). According to Larson, he believed that the six-month option period provided in the July 25 agreement had already begun to run (Tr-1 p. 197). Larson testified that he informed Lenhart of this belief (Tr-1 p. 197). Lenhart, who had participated only in the discussions of July 9 and 10, 1963, promised to see Koolsbergen on his next trip to New York concerning this request (Tr-1 p. 197).

On January 14, 1964 Lenhart made his trip to New York City and conveyed Larson's request for the money to Koolsbergen (Tr-1 p. 92). Larson testified that Lenhart called him and asked for an extension of the option agreement but that he refused to grant such an extension (Tr-1 p. 198). Lenhart called Tweedy on January 14 or 15 and was then informed by Tweedy that no money was due the Larsons until they executed the formal documents (Tr-1 pp. 116, 117). Koolsbergen testified that he did not intend to pay the \$20,000 until the formal op-

tion and leases were signed (Tr-1 p. 93). However, since Larson at that time was an employee of TOSCO, holding the confidence of Koolsbergen, Koolsbergen attempted to help him out (Tr-1 p. 92). Accordingly, on January 22, 1964, Koolsbergen called Tweedy in Denver and informed him of Larson's request (Tr-1 p. 117). Tweedy explained to Koolsbergen that under the July 25, 1963 agreement TOSCO had no obligation to pay the Larsons \$20,000 until the agreements were signed (Tr-1 p. 117). The relevant terms of that agreement are as follows:

The shareholders of Larson Oil Co. are contemplating dissolution of the company and/or the distribution of its unpatented oil shale claims. Its shareholders, upon receipt of the claims from Larson Oil Co., will make them available to The Oil Shale Corporation on the following terms:

1. TOSCO will pay \$20,000 *at the time of signing of the agreements . . . and will receive in turn a six-month option . . .* (Emphasis supplied)

Tweedy informed Koolsbergen that he had examined Dufford's revision of his drafts and believed that there were only minor differences between the parties which he and Dufford could resolve in a relatively short time (Tr-1, p. 119). Koolsbergen then asked Tweedy to call Larson and see if he could help Larson out with regard to the payment of the \$20,000 (Tr-1 p. 118). On the same day, or the day after (Tr-1 p. 118), Tweedy called Larson. Larson testified he told Tweedy that he:

would be glad to discuss further the acquisition of the property, but before I did that, I wanted to be paid the \$20,000 due me on the option that had expired and I would not discuss any new deal on

these properties until they paid for the option that they already had. He [Tweedy] said, 'Fine, I will cout' (Tr-1 p. 28).

Tweedy, however, testified that:

He [Mr. Larson] said to me that he thought the option had expired on the 15th. I said to him that I did not understand that to be the case in view of the language of the July 25 letter-offer and in view of the fact that Mr. Dufford had not finished his draft or his version of the draft for some five months of the alleged option period. That we had by his action been deprived of the benefits that presumably that were to be made available to us, during the option period, which would have been the right to examine title. . . .

. . . I said after I had given him my view of the transaction that if he would assure me that there would be no difficulty so far as he was concerned in executing the documents . . . I would advise Mr. Koolsbergen of this fact and suggest to him that he make the money available to Mr. Larson.

. . . He said 'That's fine.' I further said, 'If that is the case, we've got to get together promptly and make sure that we get the property descriptions.' (Tr-1 pp. 120, 121.)

Following this telephone conversation of January 22, 1964, Tweedy called Koolsbergen and reported that Larson had assured him that he would sign the documents (Tr-1 p. 93). Tweedy and Koolsbergen discussed the matter and concluded they could trust Larson to sign the documents (Tr-1 p. 148). Although Koolsbergen understood and had been advised that he had no legal obligation to pay the \$20,000 until the documents had been signed, he determined to accommodate Larson with an advance payment (Tr-1 p. 93).

Pursuant to Larson's request, TOSCO prepared four checks, each in the amount of \$5,000, for the four stockholders of Larson Oil Company (Exhibit 7). The checks were dated January 31, 1964 and signed by Koolsbergen. On February 3, 1964 TOSCO'S comptroller wrote Larson requesting acknowledgement of receipt of the checks which were tendered "in connection with the options on certain patented and unpatented lands" (Exhibit 10). It is undisputed that the four defendants cashed the checks and as of today still retain the \$20,000 payment.

C. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO TOSCO'S PAYMENT OF THE \$20,000.

In the course of their telephone conversation on January 22, 1964, Tweedy and Larson agreed that they should get together promptly to get the detailed property descriptions and make a preliminary review of the abstracts which Larson had stored in his home (Tr-1 p. 121). In the first week in February, Tweedy confirmed with Larson their plans to meet at Larson's home in Pacific Palisades (Tr-1 p. 123). He then called Dufford to obtain consent for this direct visitation with Larson (Tr-1 p. 149) and then set about revising the Dufford-Larson drafts. He and one of his law associates underlined the provisions in the Dufford-Larson drafts that varied from Tweedy's original drafts, and from these comparisons Tweedy worked out revisions of the areas where he thought Dufford had departed from the agreement of July 25, 1963 (Tr-1 p. 126).

Tweedy then compiled a redraft in which he incorporated the language of the July 25 agreement in certain provisions in order to settle prior variances in the drafts (Tr-1 p. 133). For Larson's benefit he underlined all of the departures from the Dufford-Larson drafts (Exhibits 17 and 18).

On February 12, 1964, Tweedy flew to Pacific Palisades (Tr-1 p. 136). Larson met him at the airport and they went to Larson's house where they began putting together an overlay of the properties (Tr-1 p. 136). Tweedy gave Larson copies of the drafts he had prepared and suggested that they address themselves to the differences that still existed between them (Tr-1, pp. 134-138). Tweedy and Larson worked for two more full days with the descriptions and abstracts. On each day Tweedy asked Larson to go over the drafts with him, but Larson indicated that he didn't want to get into those matters at the time (Tr-1 p. 139). On Friday the 14th of February, Larson became evasive and told Tweedy he was not interested in discussing the drafts (Tr-1 p. 140).

The next day, February 15, 1964, Tweedy and Larson met with Koolsbergen in Beverly Hills (Tr-1 p. 141). At this time Larson informed Koolsbergen and Tweedy that he considered that the options had already expired (Tr-1 p. 141) and that there was no deal (Tr-1 p. 74). Larson indicated that at some time in the future he might be willing to discuss the matter further (Tr-1 p. 74).

On March 23, 1964 Larson met with Morton M. Winston, plaintiff's Vice President, for the purpose of discussing the possibility of compromising their differences (Exhibit 19). At this time Larson indicated that he would demand \$75,000 per year advance royalty instead of the \$10,000 provided in the agreement of July 25, 1963. TOSCO could not accede to Larson's demands for this uptrading of their agreement, and when no compromise could be reached, TOSCO commenced this lawsuit asking the court to declare that TOSCO was entitled to a six-month option on the Larson property, on the terms and conditions specified in the July 25, 1963, agreement.

ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE WRITTEN JULY 25 AGREEMENT, BECAUSE BOTH PARTIES AGREE THERE WAS A CONTRACT AND THE TERMS OF THE CONTRACT ARE SUFFICIENTLY CLEAR AND CERTAIN TO BE CAPABLE OF SPECIFIC ENFORCEMENT.

The trial court has found, as plaintiff contends, that a contract was entered into on July 25, 1963, between plaintiff and defendants. Defendants do not challenge such finding by cross appeal, and may not here deny that a binding contract was entered into on that date. The July 25 agreement, signed by all the defendants and by the plaintiff, sets forth those terms and conditions upon

which the parties had agreed. This lawsuit was initiated when defendants, having accepted the benefits of plaintiff's performance under this contract, refused to perform their part of the bargain.

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