1967

The Oil Shale Corporation, A Nevada Corporation
v. Fred v. Larson, Also Known As Frederick v.
Larson, Ethel B. Larson, Husband And Wife;
Frederick H. Larson And Dorothy H. Larson,
Husband And Wife : Brief of Respondents

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff seeks specific performance of a written instrument. Defendants ask dismissal of the Plaintiff's Complaint and judgment for its costs of suit incurred in this proceeding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Defendants adopt and agree with the statement in Plaintiff's Brief as to disposition in the Lower Court, with one exception. In the last paragraph on Page 2 of its Brief, Plaintiff did not inform the Court that a copy of the proposed Revised Findings and Conclusions filed with the Lower Court on Janu-

ary 6, 1967, were made available to counsel for Plaintiff at the same time. Plaintiff's counsel had the opportunity to examine and study the proposed Revised Findings and Conclusions for at least five weeks prior to the hearing in Provo, Utah on February 21, 1967. At the hearing in February, Plaintiff's counsel argued at length, and also submitted a written brief, in opposition to the proposed Findings and Conclusions tendered by Defendants' counsel. The Plaintiff was therefore given ample opportunity to oppose the proposed Findings and Conclusions which were subsequently adopted by the Trial Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

To avoid excessive repetition, in this Brief, the Defendants will usually refer to the Plaintiff as "Tosco," to the Defendant, Frederick H. Larson, as "Larson" and Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 2 (the letter of July 25, 1963 and the memorandum of July 11, 1963) as the "July Letter."

Tosco's Statement of Facts, although factually correct in most respects, omits vital parts of the record which are of importance to any decision in this case. Also, in some areas, Tosco's Statement of Facts constitutes argument rather than factual summary. Defendants offer the following supplement and comment regarding Tosco's Statement of Facts:

A. Throughout its Brief, Tosco constantly refers to the July Letter as "the Agreement of July 25, 1963." By doing so Tosco places special and re-

peated emphasis upon an instrument which, by its own terms, is identified as a "letter" (see Page 1 thereof), the purpose of which was to "... state the intention of Tosco and the shareholders of Larson Oil Co., as modified on July 24, to hereafter enter into contracts and agreements giving expression to those understandings as they pertain to the holding of Larson Oil Co."

B. On Page 6 of its Brief, Tosco states as follows: "They [Tosco and Defendants] also agreed that the option would not commence until the payment of the \$20,000.00 and the signing of formal documents." This constitutes Tosco's interpretation of the July Letter. The instrument is silent as to the commencement or ending dates of the option. The record does disclose:

1. In the New York Meeting of July 9 and 10, 1963, Larson and Tosco agreed that the option period would commence July 15, 1963 and end January 15, 1964 (Tosco Brief, Page 5);

2. The understandings of the parties in New York on July 9 and 10, which resulted in a memorandum of July 11, 1963, were incorporated in the July Letter;

3. The drafts prepared by Tosco's attorney, Mr. Tweedy, specified option dates of June 15, 1963 to January 15, 1964, and the leases attached to those drafts as Exhibit "A" provided that the proposed lease was to start January 15, 1964 (Pl's. Exs. 14 and 16);

4. The drafts prepared by Larson's

counsel in November and December of 1963, used the same beginning, ending and lease dates, and

5. The drafts of a transaction prepared by Tweedy in February of 1964, also called for the option to Commence July 15, 1963 and expire January 15, 1964. (Pl's. Exs. 17 and 18.)

C. On the bottom of Page 6 and at the top of Page 7 of its Brief, Tosco states: "Thereupon a new letter agreement of July 25, 1963, *which the Trial Court found binding on both parties*, was drafted in Larson's presence." (Emphasis supplied.) This statement is not correct. A review of the initial Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the Trial Court on November 1, 1966 and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as revised and entered by the Court on January 6, 1967, will conclusively show that the July Letter, in and by itself, was never considered as being binding upon the parties by the Trial Court, or for that matter, by the parties themselves. (TR-1, Pg. 115 L 20-28; TR-1, Pg. 78, L 16-25.)

D. The statement in Subparagraph 3 on Page 8 of Tosco's Brief is incorrect. Here, Tosco states that the issuance of shares of Tosco stock was to be "subject to appropriate investment representations *in compliance with the Federal Securities Law*." (Emphasis supplied.) The July Letter provides that said shares were to be issued to Defendants "subject

to the delivery to it [Tosco] of appropriate investment representation from the recipients *and* subject to such other terms and conditions as may, in the opinion of counsel be required for compliance with the Federal Securities Law.” (Emphasis supplied.)

E. By its statement that Larson and his attorney “made some minor changes to conform the drafts to the July 25 agreement, such as substituting the individual shareholders as parties . . .”, (see Page 9 of Tosco’s Brief) Tosco infers that drafts of documents prepared by Tweedy, Tosco’s attorney, (Plaintiff’s Exs. 4 & 5) contained those understandings which were expressed in the July letter. To the contrary, at the time Tweedy prepared Plaintiff’s Exhibits 4 and 5, he had no knowledge of the discussions which transpired between Larson, Koolsbergen and Winston in Beverly Hills, California, on July 23 and 24, 1963. (TR-1, Pg. 143 L 15-21.)

F. On Page 11 of its Brief, Tosco quotes certain portions of the July Letter with the comment that the quoted portions of the letter constitute the “relevant terms” thereof. Such a statement is purely argumentative and obviously designed only to emphasize Tosco’s position. Factually the quoted portions constitute a small part of the instrument in question and are certainly not all of the relevant terms.

G. On Page 12 of its Brief, Tosco quotes a portion of the testimony given by its attorney,

Tweedy. However, additional testimony by Tweedy concerning his telephone conversation with Larson is of extreme importance in this case. When pressed for a definite answer as to exactly what type of documents Larson agreed to sign, Mr. Tweedy finally stated that Larson had advised him that the Defendants would sign documents if Defendants' attorney and Tweedy could reach an agreement as to the differences then existing between Tosco and Defendants. (TR-1, Pg. 148 L 8-28.) Tosco also fails to inform the Court that Koolsbergen acknowledged that Tosco paid the \$20,000.00 to Defendants on the "expectation" that Defendants would execute formal agreements if Tweedy and Larson's counsel could resolve the matters in dispute. (TR-1, Pg. 100 L 17-18.) Tweedy made no attempt to resolve those differences with Defendants' attorney. (TR-1, Pg. 148 L-23-30; Pg. 149 L 1-13.)

H. On Page 13 of its Brief, Tosco refers to payment of \$20,000.00 by Tosco to the Defendants in the form of four Tosco checks, each in the amount of \$5,000.00. Plaintiff does not advise the Court that each of said checks bore a notation which showed the checks were issued for options granted. (Pl's. Ex. 7.) Of equal importance is the fact that the letter written to Larson by Tosco's comptroller (Defs'. Ex. 10) stated that the four Tosco checks were issued and paid to Defendants "pursuant to the agreement."

I. On Page 13 of its Brief, Tosco states that

Tweedy called Larson's attorney to obtain consent for a direct visitation with Larson in California. Here, the Court should be advised that Tweedy requested permission to talk with Larson only concerning property descriptions. (TR-1 Pg. 135 L 9-15; Pg. 149 L 1-8.) No request was made by Tweedy to discuss with Larson the instruments he had prepared in February of 1964 (Pl's. Ex. 17 & 18).

J. Tosco does not advise the Court of these events:

1. Tosco's engineer, Warriner, made an examination of the Larson lands in August of 1963 and made a report of his examination to Tosco. (TR-1, Pg. 80 L 12-27.)

2. Larson advised Tosco, both orally and in writing, on numerous occasions, that the option granted Tosco expired on January 15, 1964. (TR-1, Pg. 196 L 15-30; Pg. 197—all and Pg. 198 L 1-10.) (See also Pl's. Ex. 3 and Def's. Ex. 20 & 21.)

K. In its description of events related in the second paragraph on Page 14 of its Brief, Tosco cites only evidence submitted by its witnesses concerning the meeting between Larson and Tweedy in Beverly Hills on February 12, 1964. The testimony in this respect was conflicting and Larson testified that Tweedy attempted to obtain Larson's approval to a transaction completely different and foreign to the understandings expressed in the July Letter (TR-1, Pg. 28 L 10-30).

DEFENDANTS' ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANTS' RESPONSE TO TOSCO'S ARGUMENTS A AND B

A. THE EVIDENCE SUSTAINS THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO GRANT SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE JULY LETTER.

The contract alleged to exist by Tosco, consisting solely of the July Letter, is indefinite, incomplete and constitutes a mere agreement to agree. In a recent opinion, this Court set forth the requirements of an enforceable contract when it said in *Pitcher v. Lauritzen*, 18 Utah 2d 368, 423 P.2d 491 (1967):

Specific performance cannot be required unless all terms of the agreement are clear. The court cannot compel the performance of a contract which the parties did not mutually agree upon. (Citing authority.)

In speaking of certain terms required for specific performance, the author in 49 Am. Jr., Specific Performance, Section 22, at Page 35 uses this language:

The contract must be free from doubt, vagueness and ambiguity, so as to leave nothing to conjecture or to be supplied by the court. It must be sufficiently certain and definite in its terms to leave no reasonable doubt as to what the parties intended, and no reasonable doubt of the specific thing equity is called upon to have performed, and it must be sufficiently certain as to its terms so that the court may enforce it as actually made by the parties . . . (423 P.2d at 493).

This rule is especially applicable to complicated mining industrial transactions. *American Mining Co. v. Himrod-Kimball Mines Co.*, 124 Colo. 186, 235 P.2d 804 (1951).

There are at least three critical and essential omissions from the July Letter. These are (i) the term of the mining lease contemplated by the parties, (ii) the form of conveyance which would have been required of Defendants if Tosco had elected to purchase the claims and (iii) the clarification of the term "appropriate investment restrictions" which Defendants would have been required to give upon receipt of the Tosco stock.

Of critical importance is the omission in the July Letter of the term of the lease. There is ample and conclusive authority for the proposition that a lease term is essential in a mining lease. For the sake of brevity, reference is made here only to two cases. The first is *Martin v. Hall*, 219 Cal. 234, 26 P.2d 288 (1933).

Appellant alleges execution of a written agreement for a lease [oil and gas] on August 8, 1928. The written agreement is not set forth haec verba in the answer and cross-complaint. As described by appellant it is uncertain, indefinite, and incomplete, particularly *in that it fails to fix a date for commencement of the lease or to fix any term of duration.* (Citing authority.) (Emphasis supplied.) (26 P.2d at 290.)

The second case is *Warren v. Gary-Glendon Coal*

Co., 313 Ky. 178, 230 S.W. 2d 638 (1950). In that case the Big Jim Coal Company made two offers to Warren relative to certain coal lands. The second offer took the following form:

Offer No. 2

September 19, 1946

We offer to lease with the option to purchase the same properties mentioned in Offer No. 1 at 10c per ton royalty on coal mined ($\frac{1}{2}$ of royalty to be put in escrow from the 131 acre tract). Minimum rental \$100.00 per year. Option on the 131 acres \$5,400.00 ($\frac{1}{2}$ to be put in escrow). Option on the balance \$2,600.00 or a total of \$8,000.00. Any royalties paid to apply on the purchase price if and when purchased. The right to use all the surface and timber to be the same as if owned by us. No royalty to be paid on coal mined from the tract of land lying on the watershed of Caney Creek, and if and when this tract is purchased it is to be transferred in fee.

The Howell tract where home is to be reserved.

This contract is to be written out in full later on as the final elaborate agreement between the parties.

In adjudging that the second offer did not constitute a contract which could be specifically enforced the Court stated:

It is fundamental that in order to enable a court of equity to decree specific performance, the terms of the contract must be clear, definite, certain and complete. . . .

When we apply the rules set out in the above paragraph to this loosely drawn and indefinite

instrument, it is manifest that it is not the character of contract that a court of equity will specifically enforce. *The time it was to begin and to end was not stated . . .* (Emphasis supplied.) (230 S.W. 2d at 640)

In opposition to the argument that the lease must have a definite term, Tosco relied upon *D.A.C. Uranium Co. v. Benton*, 149 F. Supp. 667 (Dist. Colo. 1956), during arguments to the Trial Court. The lease before the court in *Benton* had a definite term, i.e., the lease was to continue so long as the property was developed during six months of each year. It is significant that the court in *Benton* quoted as follows from *Carlson v. Bain*, 116 Colo. 526, 182 P.2d 909 (1947):

We have said that under the Authorities, to create a valid contract of lease but few points of mutual agreement are necessary; first, there must be a definite agreement as to the extent and bonds of the property lease; *second, a definite and agreed term; . . .* (Emphasis supplied.)

The July letter is silent as to the form of conveyance with which the Defendants would convey the claims if Tosco had elected to exercise the option to purchase. Was the conveyance to be made by quit claim deed or deed with warranty or without warranty? In any transaction involving real estate, the form of conveyance is critically important. See, for example, *Venino v. Naegle*, 99 N.J. Eq. 183, 131 Atl. 895 (1926), wherein the Court of Chancery in refusing to decree specific performance stated:

In the document under examination it will have been observed that many of the usual provisions of contracts for the purchase and sale of real estate are omitted. As was pointed out in the opinion in the *Tansey* case, it does not disclose what all the terms of the formal agreement were to be; neither does it specify whether or not it was to contain provisions for default of payment of interest and taxes. *No mention is made of the character of deeds by which the title was to be conveyed.* These defects I feel are fatal to the complainant's suit. (Emphasis supplied.) (131 Atl. at 895.)

If Tosco had elected to exercise the option to lease the Larson lands, Tosco would have then been obligated to deliver 5,000 shares of its common stock to the Defendants.

Subject to delivery to it [Tosco] of *appropriate investment representations* from the recipients *and* subject to such other terms and conditions as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be required for compliance with the Federal Securities Laws. (July 25 portion of July Letter, Pl's. Ex. 2, p. 2.) (Emphasis supplied.)

There is no evidence in the record to clarify or indicate the meaning of "appropriate investment representations."

No authorities have been discovered which define the term "appropriate investment representations.' The noted authority, *Words and Phrases*, omits the phrase entirely.

It is clear that investment representations by the Defendants to Tosco would be a very material consideration from the viewpoint of both parties. However, the absence of language in the July Letter which would define or indicate what the representations would be, how they would operate, and the length of time during which such representations would be effective, constitutes a further significant omission.

The essential omissions notwithstanding, it is clear that the July Letter, in and of itself alone, constituted a mere agreement to agree and could not, therefore, serve as the basis for a decree of specific performance. In the Restatement, *Contracts*, § 26, Comment A (1957), the authors state:

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